
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

August 6, 2013 9:00 am 
 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Joe Brannen 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt 
 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations  
A) Conor Baker is being awarded the Statesboro Fire Department Medal of Achievement 

for his efforts in a National Firefighting Skills Competition in which he placed 12th 
overall 
 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 07-16-2013 Council Minutes 
 

B) Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2013-26: A Resolution Approving 
the Uncollectable Personal Property Tax Bill List for 2012. 
 

C) Consideration of a Motion to approve “Vehicle for Hire” 
a) Spells Taxi Service – Deborah Cranfill (Driver) 

 
D) Notification of alcohol license application: 

a) Licensee:  Lan Doan 
DBA:  Orchid’s Asian Restaurant 
Location:  1525 Fair Road 
Type of Alcohol License:  Pouring – Beer & Wine 
Type of Business:  Restaurant 

b) Licensee:  Ramiro Melendez 
DBA:  El Jalapeno 
Location:  711 South Main Street 
Type of Alcohol:  Pouring – Beer, Wine & Liquor 
Type of Business:  Restaurant 
 

E) Consideration of a motion for the surplus and disposal of six (6) solid waste trailers in 
the Solid Waste Disposal Division: 
a) 2007 East refuse trailer (#9294) 
b) 2008 East refuse trailer (#2840) 
c) 2008 East refuse trailer (#2841) 
d) 2009 East refuse trailer (#3898) 
e) 2009 East refuse trailer (#3899) 
f) 2009 East refuse trailer (#3900) 



 
 

 
F) Consideration of a Motion to call a Public Hearing for August 29, 2013 at 4:00 p.m. 

in the Council Chambers at City Hall on the proposed 2013 Calendar Year Ad 
Valorem (Property) Tax Millage Rate of 6.358 for the City of Statesboro. 

 

G) Consideration of a motion to approve the Police Department to dispose of city 
property through electronic means specifically:  
a) One Ford Crown Vic Police Cruiser 2FAFP71W1X125339    
b) Six Ford Crown Vic Police Cruisers to sell for scrap metal specifically: 

2FAFP71W84X124676   
2FAFP71W94X124671 
2FAFP71W06X138204  
2FAFP71W83X198266  
2FAFP71W04X124669   
2FAFP71WX6X138209 

 
6. A Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to approve the following: 

 
A) APPLICATION # RZ 13-04-02: Greg Parker, Drayton Parker, LLC, requests a 

zoning map amendment pursuant to the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance from R-15 
(Single Family Residential) District to CR (Commercial Retail) District for property 
located at 104 Catherine Avenue (Tax Parcel Number S44000001 000).  

 
B) APPLICATION # RZ 13-04-03: Greg Parker, Drayton Parker, LLC, requests a 

zoning map amendment pursuant to the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance from R-15 
(Single Family Residential) District to CR (Commercial Retail) District for property 
located at 300 Catherine Avenue (Tax Parcel Number S44000044 000). 

 
C) APPLICATION # RZ 13-04-04: Greg Parker, Drayton Parker, LLC, requests a 

zoning map amendment pursuant to the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance from R-15 
(Single Family Residential) District to CR (Commercial Retail) District for property 
located at northeast corner of Herty Drive @ Fair Road (Tax Parcel Number 
S44000045 000). 

 
7.  A Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to approve the following: 

 
A) APPLICATION # SE 13-03-03: Venus Mack requests a special exception be granted 

pursuant to the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance to allow the operation of a hair salon in 
the R-20 (Single-Family Residential) District for property located at 316 Fletcher 
Drive (Tax Parcel Number S35000009 000). 

 
8. Consideration of a Motion to authorize the Mayor to execute a contract for Retail 

Strategies for purposes of retail research and recruitment and expansion data. Such 
contract to be for a 3 year term of engagement at $36,000 for year 1 and $18,000 each for 
years 2 and 3. 

 



 
 

9. Consideration of Motion to Approve Award of Contract to Preferred Site Construction 
(PSC), LLC in the amount of $142,075.00 to construct a sidewalk on Gentilly Road 
between Fair Road and East Jones Avenue.  The Gentilly Road Sidewalk Project is to be 
funded by 2007 SPLOST. 
 

10. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Sole Source Vendor, Dell, in the amount of 
$26,311.79 for the network storage server. 

 
11. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to consider the abandonment of an 

unimproved City alley located between Donehoo Street and Granade Street     
 

12. Consideration of a Motion to award a construction contract to Pearce Building Systems 
for phase I of the Fire Department’s renovation project on West Grady Street in the 
amount of $459,829.00. 

 
13. Other Business from City Council 

 
14. Public Comments (General) 

A) Mr. Bill Thomas request to address to Council 
 

15. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Potential Litigation 
and Personnel Matters ” in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 
 

16. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
  CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

July 16, 2013 

 A regular meeting of the Statesboro City Council was held on July 16, 2013 at 6:00 pm in the 
Council Chambers at City Hall. Present were Mayor Joe R. Brannen, Council Members Phil 
Boyum, John Riggs, Gary Lewis and Travis Chance.  Also present were City Manager Frank 
Parker, City Clerk Sue Starling, City Attorney Alvin Leaphart, Senior Assistant City Engineer 
Jason Boyles and Director of Community Development Mandi Cody. Absent was Mayor Pro 
Tem Will Britt. 
  
The meeting was called to order by Mayor Joe Brannen 
The Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance was led by Councilman Travis Chance. 
 
Recognitions/Public Presentations: None 
 
Public Comments (Agenda Item): None 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 07-02-2013 Council Minutes 

 
B) Notification of alcohol license application: 

a) Licensee:  Joseph F. Cason Jr. 
DBA:  The Blue Bean Bistro LLC 
Location:  721 South Main Street Blg 2 Suite 8 
Type of Alcohol License:  Pouring – Beer & Wine  
Type of Business:  Restaurant 
 

C) Consideration of a Motion to approve “Vehicle for Hire” 
a)  Boro D.D. LLC – Richard Johnson (Driver) 

 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve the consent 
agenda in its entirety. Councilman Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carries by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to approve the following: 

 
A) APPLICATION # SE 13-03-03:  Venus Mack requests a special exception be granted  

pursuant to the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance to allow the operation of a hair salon in 
the R-20 (Single-Family Residential) District for property located at 316 Fletcher Drive 
(Tax Parcel Number S35000009 000). 



 
 

Director of Community Planning Mandi Cody stated the request, if granted, would be for the 
applicant only and could not be transferred. The applicant, Venus Mack, who resides at 10 
Packinghouse Apt 607 spoke in favor of the request. Roosevelt Love who also resides on 
Fletcher Drive spoke in favor of the request. Leo Sable of 300 Fletcher Drive, Randall Wire of 
110 Ladd Circle and Frank McGibony of 105 Christie Lane spoke against the request. 
Councilman Boyum asked if the neighborhood citizens would be interested in meeting with the 
applicant to discuss a compromise before the next Council meeting. Both parties agreed to meet 
at the next Homeowners Association meeting. 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to table this item until the 
next Council meeting. Councilman Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carries by a 4-0 vote. 
 
 Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to approve the following: 
 

A) APPLICATION # RZ 13-04-02:  Greg Parker, Drayton Parker, LLC, requests a 
zoning map amendment pursuant to the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance from R-
15 (Single Family Residential) District to CR (Commercial Retail) District for 
property located at 104 Catherine Avenue (Tax Parcel Number S44000001 000).                     

 
APPLICATION # RZ 13-04-03:  Greg Parker, Drayton Parker, LLC, requests a 
zoning map amendment pursuant to the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance from R-
15 (Single Family Residential) District to CR (Commercial Retail) District for 
property located at 300 Catherine Avenue (Tax Parcel Number S44000044 000). 

 
APPLICATION # RZ 13-04-04: Greg Parker, Drayton Parker, LLC, requests a 
zoning map amendment pursuant to the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance from R-
15 (Single Family Residential) District to CR (Commercial Retail) District for  
property located at northeast corner of Herty Drive @ Fair Road (Tax Parcel 
Number S44000045 000) 

 
Director of Community Development Mandi Cody stated if Council approves the request, the 3 
pieces of property would be as one motion along with conditions recommended by staff.    Rusty 
Windsor of Thomas and Hutton representing Greg Parker spoke in favor of the request. Laura 
Marsh of Franklin and Taulbee spoke in favor of the request on behalf of the property owner. 
Richard and Janet Johnson of 300 Catherine Avenue spoke in favor of the request. Ray Fry who 
resides at 208 Wendwood Drive along with Del Presley of 106 E. Edgewood Drive spoke against 
the request. Joann Newland was concerned about what it would do to the other gas stations down 
the street. Craig Kellogg of 113 Herty Drive, Barbara Martin of 301 Marvin Avenue and June 
Weaver of 302 Catherine Avenue all spoke against the request. Councilman Riggs stated he 
would vote no on the request because the majority of his constituents were not in favor of the 
request.  
Councilman Chance asked if the homeowners would meet with the applicants to discuss a 
compromise or agreement before the next Council meeting. Most of the citizens stated they were 
not interested in negotiations. 
 



 
 

Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to table the item until the 
next Council meeting. Councilman Boyum, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. 
Councilman Riggs voted against the motion. The motion carries by a 3-1 vote. 
 
Councilman Travis Chance left the meeting and did not return. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2013-25: A Resolution Allocating Excise 
Tax on Rooms, Lodging and Accommodations. 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve Resolution 
2013-25: A Resolution Allocating Excise Tax on Rooms, Lodging and Accommodations. 
Councilman Boyum, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion carries by a 3-0 
vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Authorize the Mayor to execute a contract for services with 
the Statesboro Arts Council, Inc. to market downtown Statesboro by operating and 
managing the Averitt Center for the Arts, using proceeds from the Hotel/Motel Tax 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to Authorize the Mayor to 
execute a contract for services with the Statesboro Arts Council, Inc. to market downtown 
Statesboro by operating and managing the Averitt Center for the Arts, using proceeds from the 
Hotel/Motel Tax. Councilman Boyum, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The 
motion carries by a 3-0 vote. 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Authorize the Mayor to execute a 
contract for services with the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority/Main Street to 
market downtown Statesboro, using proceeds from the Hotel/Motel Tax 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to Authorize the Mayor to 
execute a contract for services with the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority/Main 
Street to market downtown Statesboro, using proceeds from the Hotel/Motel Tax. Councilman 
Boyum, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion carries by a 3-0 vote. 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Authorize the Mayor to execute a 
contract for services with the Statesboro Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc. to market 
Statesboro and Bulloch County, using proceeds from the Hotel/Motel Tax 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to Authorize the Mayor to 
execute a contract for services with the Statesboro Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc. to 
market Statesboro and Bulloch County, using proceeds from the Hotel/Motel Tax. Councilman 
Boyum, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion carries by a 3-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to enter into agreements with Norfolk Southern and Georgia 
Southern Railway 
 
Director of Water Wastewater Wayne Johnson stated this agreement was needed to get 
permission to install a new sanitary sewer force main along Mathews Road. 



 
 

 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to approve a Motion to enter 
into agreements with Norfolk Southern and Georgia Southern Railway. Councilman Boyum, 
Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion carries by a 3-0 vote. 

 
Consideration of a motion to approve a pay grade change from a 23L to 24I for Police 
Department Major Brunson in an effort to bring both FD and PD operation positions in 
line with current levels of responsibility. This item was not added to the new FY14 Budget. 
 
City Manager Frank Parker stated Scott Brunson had asked for this item to be removed from the 
agenda.  Mr. Parker also asked for the suspension of the pay increases for the Fire Department 
and a temporary budget amendment to be processed for the FY 2014 Fire Department budget.  
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to remove the item from the 
agenda and to temporarily suspend and amend the FY 2014 Fire Department salary budget. 
Councilman Boyum, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion carries by a 3-0 
vote. 
 
Other Business from City Council 
 
Purchasing Agent Darren Prather asked Council to authorize the application of a grant between 
the Hunter Cattle Company and the City of Statesboro. The City would hold the grant money and 
disburse fund when requested. Upon Council’s approval, the City will submit the grant 
application and the Mayor will sign a memorandum of understanding (MOU) and a resolution 
that will be attached to the grant application.  
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve the grant 
application and authorize the Mayor to sign the MOU and resolution. Councilman Boyum, Riggs 
and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion carries by a 3-0 vote. 
 
City Manager Frank Parker stated the Board of Commissioners approved the site work and 
elevated storage tank for the I-16 project. He also stated he would be bringing to Council some 
changes to the billing system that will better define the Ordinances in connection with policy and 
procedures along with recommended changes to other procedures 

 
Public Comments (General) 
 
Bill Thomas spoke to Council concerning what he believed to be an unauthorized decision made 
by a sworn constitutional officer involving a utility account in the amount of $6,000.00.  Mr.  
Thomas also stated he would like to see Council get involved in this issue.   
 
Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to adjourn. Councilman 
Boyum, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion carries by a 3-0 vote. 
The meeting was adjourned at 8:05 pm. 
 



RESOLUTION 2013-26:  A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE UNCOLLECTABLE 
PERSONAL PROPERTY TAX BILL LIST 

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Statesboro relies on the taxation of real and personal 
property as one of the major sources of revenue to operate the municipal government; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City administers the billing and collection of this tax in-house, 
including the execution of liens, the collection of delinquent taxes, and the sale of  
properties should the taxes not be paid; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the most difficult property taxes to collect are those levied on 
personal property where the taxpayer does not have any real property also on the tax 
digest, as a tax lien on real property attaches to real property in the event of sale or 
foreclosure, but the personal property alone might be moved out of the city, sold or 
otherwise disposed of before the City can collect the delinquent amounts; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Georgia law and administrative rules of the State Department of 
Revenue provide criteria for when a city should declare such properties uncollectable, so 
that they can be removed from the property taxes receivable ledger of the City; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Clerk and Tax Collector have reviewed all of the delinquent 
personal property taxes to determine which are capable of being collected, and have 
provided a list of those they believe under state law to be uncollectable, and the Mayor 
and City Council have reviewed this list and wish to adopt it as the official list of 
uncollectable personal property taxes, which removes from the property taxes receivable 
ledger this tax amount, together with any penalties, interest, and other costs associated 
with each of these accounts; 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the 
City of Statesboro, Georgia as follows: 
 
 Section 1.  The attached list of delinquent personal property tax amounts are 
hereby found and declared to be uncollectable for one or more of the following statuatory  
reasons: 
 

a) The statute of limitations had expired per O.C.G.A. 48-3-21-1; 
b) The personal property has changed ownership more than two years ago per 

O.C.G.A. 9-12-93 and 48-3-22; 
c) The owner cannot be located after a reasonable search per O.C.G.A. 48-3-23; 
or 
d) The bill is for less that $5.00 and more than one year old per O.C.G.A. 48-3-

21.1. 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

Section 2.  The attached list of delinquent personal property tax accounts are 
hereby  adopted as the official list of uncollectable personal property taxes and the 
City Clerk and Tax Collector are hereby authorized and directed to credit and 
remove those accounts, including any associated penalties, interest, and other 
costs, from the City’s property taxes receivable ledger (tax digest). 
 
Section 3.   This Resolution shall be and remain effective from and after its date 
of adoption. 
 
Adopted this 6th day of August, 2013 
 
 
 
      CITY OF STATESBORO, GA. 
 
 
 
      ______________________________ 
      By:  Joe R. Brannen, Mayor 
 
 
 
      ______________________________ 
      Attest:  Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 
 



2012 PERSONAL PROPERTY TAXES TO BE WRITTEN OFF 
 
 

Tax Year Account # Taxpayer      Amount 
 
2011-2012 55701  Joseph P Allen DBA J Allen Enterprises  $62.07 
2012  55841  Baird Properties DBA Portal Financial Services $23.81 
2010-2011 54326  Bonham, Steve G,     $84.10 
2011-2012 45175  Brix-Con Inc, Steve Standridge   $219.75 
2011-2012 55853  Brown,Kenneth DBA Lily’s Café   $117.86 
2011  54213  Campbell,Debbie DBA The Book & Cranny $303.69 
2012  53458  Cannady,Chad DBA Cotton States Ins  $44.64 
2011  4415  Cowart Iron Works     $234.30 
2012  2966  Haine,John DBA Bulloch Automotive  $41.75 
2011-2012 55695  Harris & Barber Inc     $62.07 
2012  56080  Hedrick,Tiffany DBA Varieties   $86.39 
2011  55682  Hermsmeier, Gary DBA Statesboro Address $38.26 
2012  56060  Huff,Matthew DBA DOT’S    $23.81 
2011  55450  Ideal Cleaners     $258.05 
2010-2012 55096  Jenkins,Jamey DBA Jenkins Preowned Auto $100.77 
2012  45360  Jerry’s Enterprises DBA Jerry’s Minit Mart $16.96 
2011-2012 54858  KSB Enterprises     $41.96 
2010-2012 55836  Latte Da Coffee Café    $278.06 
2012  54275  Lee,Barbara DBA Designer Fashions  $23.81 
2012  55681  Maiden,Diane DBA Stargaze Tattoo  $35.81 
2012  56129  Mosley,Reginald T, DBA Bunz   $35.81 
2010-2012 53656  N & C Trucking Craige Saxton   $100.77 
2010-2011 45075  Nandi DBA Budget Inn    $581.71 
2012  56053  Nelson,Daron DBA Make Em Smile Cleaning $23.81 
2012  21065  Odum, Shirley DBA Great Beginnings  $44.64 
2010-2011 55151  Oglesby, Willie DBA The U Lounge  $193.67 
2012  56100  P C Depot      $35.81 
2011-2012 54567  Reklaw Electronics     $62.07 
2012  54419  Sonny’s Real Pit Bar B Q    $171.63 
2009-2011 45825  Stewart,George DBA Eagle Car Wash  $613.61 
2012  55085  Story, Lisa DBA K J Pressure Washing  $23.81 
2010-2011 16815  Swim Pro Pools Thomas W Burke  $1270.58 
2011-2012 55824  Vangiller, Bobby DBA Dollar Outlet  $62.07 
2010-2011 55052  Venson,Anthony DBA Venson Lawn  $125.02 
2012  56055  Walker,Willie DBA The N Zone   $23.81 
2010-2011 54880  WD 34 LLC DBA Quick Shine Car Wash  $181.25 
2010-2011 53047  West,Tonisha DBA Inner Beauty Salon  $125.02 
2012  54604  Whiddon,David DBA Mr Omelet   $41.75 
2012  56064  Wittmer,Lawrence DBA Phone Net Sweeps $23.81 
 
Total           $5838.57 













 
 

 
 

City of Statesboro 
Engineering Department --- Public Works 

P.O. Box 348     912.764.0681 (Voice) 
Statesboro, Georgia   30459  912.764.7680 (Fax) 

MEMORANDUM
 
To:  Frank Parker, City Manager 
 
From:  Jason Boyles, Senior Assistant City Engineer 
 
Date:  July 30, 2013 
 
Re:  Request to Surplus Six Solid Waste Trailers in the Solid Waste Disposal Division 
 
 
As you are aware last year the City entered into a new transportation agreement with Rackleff Enterprises 
which included a provision for the contractor to provide the trailers necessary to meet the transportation 
demand.  Since that time the contractor has provided trailers and the City has gradually begun to surplus 
and dispose of our oldest trailers.  Therefore, staff is recommending that the following six trailers be 
declared surplus at the August 6th, 2013 city council meeting and then sold by electronic auction: 

a.) 2007 East refuse trailer (#9294) 
b.) 2008 East refuse trailer (#2840) 
c.) 2008 East refuse trailer (#2841) 
d.) 2009 East refuse trailer (#3898) 
e.) 2009 East refuse trailer (#3899) 
f.) 2009 East refuse trailer (#3900) 

 
Following the sale of the aforementioned trailers the Solid Waste Disposal Division will still retain a 
minimum of 2 trailers.  These two trailers will be used for transportation of bulk tires for disposal.  Staff will 
continue to evaluate operational and market conditions and gradually list these trailers over time as 
conditions warrant.  Let me know if you need anything further from me on this request. 
 
Cc: Robert Cheshire, PE, City Engineer 
 Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 Jeff McCarty, Landfill Superintendent 
 Darren Prather, Purchasing Director 



 
 

City of Statesboro --- Department of Community 
Development  
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT P.O. Box 348     » (912) 764-0630 
Statesboro, Georgia   30458  » (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

RZ 13-04-02; RZ 13-04-03; AND RZ 13-04-04  
ZONING MAP AMENDMENTS  

104 CATHERINE AVENUE; 300 CATHERINE AVENUE; AND HERTY DRIVE 
LOCATION: 104 Catherine Avenue 

300 Catherine Avenue 
Herty Drive 

 

REQUEST: 
 
Rezone from R15 (Single Family 
Residential) to CR (Commercial Retail) 

APPLICANT: Drayton Parker, LLC 

OWNER(S): 

 
James M. Hood;  
Janet & Richard Johnson; 
The Salvation Army Corporation  

LAND AREA: 

 
.46 acres 
.34 acres 
.69 acres 

PARCEL TAX  
MAP #s: 

 
S44 000001 000 
S44 000044 000 
S44 000045 000 

COUNCIL        
DISTRICT:            4 (Riggs) 

   

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant is requesting to combine and rezone three lots with a combined acreage of a .1.49  acres with existing 
single family homes located at 104 Catherine Avenue and 300 Catherine Avenue and an undeveloped lot at Herty Drive 
from R15 (Single Family Residential) District to CR (Commercial Retail) in anticipation of the sale and development as a 
convenience store. (See Exhibit A – Location Map). 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING: 

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: R15 (Single Family Residential Single Family Homes 

SOUTH: R15 (Single Family Residential) Single Family Homes, Church 

EAST: R15 (Single Family Residential)  Single Family Homes 

WEST Exempt (Georgia Southern University) GSU 

The subject property is located in mixed use area with a church to the south east of the subject property, Georgia 
Southern Campus to the west, and single family homes dispersed throughout.  

 



 

Page 2 of 15 
 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 13-04-02, RZ 13-04-03, RZ 13-04-
04 
Amended July 10, 2013 
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The subject site lies within the “Established” character area as identified by the City of Statesboro Future Development 
Map within the City of Statesboro Comprehensive Plan.  The Established character area is traditionally residential while 
major corridors support a mix of residential and commercial uses.  

Small to mid-size retail and commercial, offices, services, and multi-family residential are all appropriate land uses for 
properties within the Established character area. Some suggested development and implementation strategies for the 
area include the following:  

• Neighborhood-scale retail and commercial 

• Small scale office 

• Neighborhood services 

• Small lot single family residential 

• Garage Apartments 

Statesboro Comprehensive Plan, Community Agenda page 14. 

As illustrated in the Comprehensive Plan, commercial uses are encouraged on major corridors such as Fair Road 
(Highway 67). Other recommendations of the Plan are considered in the analysis of this report. 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES (EXCEPT TRANSPORTATION): 

The subject site is currently served by city services including water, sewer, sanitation, and public safety.  No significant 
impact is expected on community facilities or services as a result of this request.  

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property does not contain wetlands and is not located in a special flood hazard area. There is no expected 
environmental impact associated with this request. Any potential issues will be brought forth and discussed during 
standard permitting and review procedures. 

ANALYSIS: 

The .46 acre site  and the .34 acre sites are currently zoned R15 (Single Family Residential) and each contain a single 
family home.  The .69 acre lot has experienced habitual parking violations which has become an eyesore. The 
applicant’s request to rezone the properties from R15 (Single Family Residential) to CR (Commercial Retail) would 
allow for combination with the adjacent properties to be developed as a convenience store.  
 
The request to rezone the subject property should be considered in light of the standards for determination of zoning 
map amendments given in Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance; the vision and community policies 
articulated within the city’s two (2) primary land use policies: The Statesboro Comprehensive Plan and the 2035 
Bulloch County/City of Statesboro Long Range Transportation Plan; and the potential for the property to develop in 
conformance with the requirements of the proposed CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district for residential uses only 
as set forth in the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. 
 
Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides eight (8) standards for the Mayor and City Council 
to consider “in making its determination” regarding a zoning map amendment and “balancing the 
promotions of the public health, safety, morality (morals), and general welfare against the right of 
unrestricted use of property.” Those standards are numbered below 1-8.  Staff findings regarding some of 
the factors are given for Council’s consideration of the application: 
 

o Existing uses and zoning or (of) property nearby; 
o Existing uses and zoning of nearby property are zoned for single family uses. 
o The property is adjacent to commercially zoned and utilized property along Fair Road. 

o The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions. 
o Unlikely that the Herty lot will experience residential development given its proximity to a 

commercial corridor and unusual shape. 
o The extent to which the description of property values of the property owner promotes the 

health, safety, morals or general welfare of the public. 
o The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the property owner. 
o The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes. 

o The proposed land use meets the provisions of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance and the 
Comprehensive Plan. 

o Upon combination, the property will meet lot sizes and other regulating standards of the Statesboro 
Zoning Ordinance. 



 

Page 3 of 15 
 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 13-04-02, RZ 13-04-03, RZ 13-04-
04 
Amended July 10, 2013 
 

o The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of land 
development in the area in the vicinity of the property. 

o The extent the proposed change would impact the following:  population density in the area; 
community facilities; living conditions in the area; traffic patterns and congestion; 
environmental aspects; existing and future land use patterns; property values in adjacent areas; 

o Consistency with other governmental land use, transportation, and development plans for the 
community. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Based on the factors of consideration for zoning map amendments given in Section 2007, the Comprehensive Plan, 
and the Long Range Transportation Plan, staff recommends approval of the zoning map amendment requested by 
application RZ 13-04-02, RZ 13-04-03, and RZ 13-04-04 with the following conditions: 

1. The CR zoning shall become effective only upon approval of a combination plat of the three subject parcels. 

2. Ingress/Egress access is limited to Highway 67. 

3. Hollis Street must be formally abandoned at the developer’s expense. 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 

Planning Commission voted 3-0 to recommend approval of the zoning map amendment requested by RZ 13-04-02, RZ 
13-04-03, and RZ 13-04-04 with the following staff recommended conditions enumerated above. 

 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION: 

City Council held a public hearing on the applications represented in this staff report at its July 16, 2013 meeting.  
Speakers both for and against the project were heard.  Councilman Chance’s motion to table consideration of the 
application until the next council meeting with the request that the private groups meet to resolve their differences was 
approved three to one  - Councilman Riggs voting in opposition to the motion. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Page 4 of 15 
 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 13-04-02, RZ 13-04-03, RZ 13-04-
04 
Amended July 10, 2013 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT A: LOCATION MAP  

 



 

Page 5 of 15 
 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 13-04-02, RZ 13-04-03, RZ 13-04-
04 
Amended July 10, 2013 
 

 



 

Page 6 of 15 
 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 13-04-02, RZ 13-04-03, RZ 13-04-
04 
Amended July 10, 2013 
 



 

Page 7 of 15 
 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 13-04-02, RZ 13-04-03, RZ 13-04-
04 
Amended July 10, 2013 
 

 
 

 

 



 

Page 8 of 15 
 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 13-04-02, RZ 13-04-03, RZ 13-04-
04 
Amended July 10, 2013 
 

EXHIBIT B: SKETCH PLAN 

 

 
 

EXHIBIT C: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY – 104 CATHERINE AVENUE 

 
Figure 1: Subject Property from Fair Road. 
 



 

Page 9 of 15 
 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 13-04-02, RZ 13-04-03, RZ 13-04-
04 
Amended July 10, 2013 
 

 
EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY (CONT.) – 104 CATHERINE AVE 

 
Figure 2: Single Family Home located on Property – Catherine Avenue. 

 
Figure 3: Hollis Street (Access to property from Catherine Avenue). 
 



 

Page 10 of 15 
 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 13-04-02, RZ 13-04-03, RZ 13-04-
04 
Amended July 10, 2013 
 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY (CONT.) – 104 CATHERINE AVE 

 
Figure 4: Subject Property. 
 

 
Figure 5: Subject Property (Where students park to the rear of single family home). 



 

Page 11 of 15 
 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 13-04-02, RZ 13-04-03, RZ 13-04-
04 
Amended July 10, 2013 
 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY (CONT.) – 104 CATHERINE AVE 

 
Figure 6: Subject Property. 
 

 
Figure 7: Deadend of Hollis Street at Fair Road and Herty. 
 



 

Page 12 of 15 
 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 13-04-02, RZ 13-04-03, RZ 13-04-
04 
Amended July 10, 2013 
 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY (CONT.) – 104 CATHERINE AVE 

 
Figure 8: Intersection of Herty and Fair Road. 
 

 
Figure 9: Subject Property from Fair Road. 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 13 of 15 
 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 13-04-02, RZ 13-04-03, RZ 13-04-
04 
Amended July 10, 2013 
 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY (CONT.) – 300 CATHERINE AVE 

 

 
Figure 10: Subject Property from Hollis Street. 

 
Figure 11: Side of Subject Property from Hollis Street. 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 14 of 15 
 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 13-04-02, RZ 13-04-03, RZ 13-04-
04 
Amended July 10, 2013 
 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY (CONT.) – 300 CATHERINE AVE 

 

 
Figure 12: Property adjacent to Subject Property (Being Considered in RZ 13-04-02). 
 
EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY (CONT.) – HERTY DRIVE 

 

 
Figure 13: Subject Property from Hollis Street. 
 



 

Page 15 of 15 
 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 13-04-02, RZ 13-04-03, RZ 13-04-
04 
Amended July 10, 2013 
 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY (CONT.) – HERTY DRIVE 

 

 
Figure 14: Wesley Foundation across Herty from Subject Property. 

 
Figure 15: Intersection of Fair Road and Herty from Subject Property. 



 

Page 16 of 15 
 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 13-04-02, RZ 13-04-03, RZ 13-04-
04 
Amended July 10, 2013 
 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY (CONT.) – HERTY DRIVE 

 

 
Figure 16: View of Herty from Subject Property. 



 
 

City of Statesboro – Department of Community Development  
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348     » (912) 764-0630 
Statesboro, Georgia   30458  » (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

SE 13-03-03 
SPECIAL EXCEPTION REQUEST 

316 FLETCHER DRIVE 
LOCATION: 316 Fletcher Drive 

 

REQUEST: Special Exception to allow a salon in the R20 
(Single Family Residential) District. 

APPLICANT: Venus Mack 

OWNER(S): Minnie Faye Newport 

LAND AREA: 6.98 Acres 

PARCEL TAX  
MAP #s: 

S35 000009 000 

COUNCIL        
DISTRICT:            1 (Boyum) 

   

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant requests a Special Exception to allow for the utilization of a vacant accessory building on property located 
at 316 Fletcher Drive as a hair salon. The subject site is zoned R20 (Single Family Residential), which does not permit 
hair salons by right. (See Exhibit A – Location Map) 

BACKGROUND: 

There is no past zoning history on this property. This 6.98 single lot contains a single family home along with a vacant 
accessory building (to be utilized in this request). 
 
It should be noted that the purpose of this application is to consider whether the property may qualify for a zoning 
recommendation for the requested use. 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING: 

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: R25 (Single Family Residential – Bulloch 
County) & LI (Light Industrial – Bulloch 
County) 

Storage Warehouse 

SOUTH: R20 (Single Family Residential) Warehouses and Single Family Homes 

EAST: LI (Light Industrial) Industrial Warehouses and Businesses 

WEST R20 (Single Family Residential) Single Family Homes 

The subject property is located along a line separating manufacturing facilities from single family homes to the west and 
the northern and eastern property lines are surrounded by predominately industrial uses. (See Exhibit B) 

 

 



 

Page 2 of 14 
 
 

  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # SE 13-03-03 
Amended July 24, 2013 
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The subject site lies within the “Developing” character area as identified by the City of Statesboro Future Development 
Map within the City of Statesboro Comprehensive Plan.  The Developing character area is primarily residential in 
nature, but is “under pressure to grow in a suburban manner.” “These developing areas can be found at the periphery of 
the city, adjacent to existing suburban development and highway corridors.” Statesboro Comprehensive Plan, 
Community Agenda, page 16. 

To achieve the Comprehensive Plan’s policy of protecting existing infrastructure by encouraging infill, redevelopment, 
and compact development, the community should promote small scale retail uses when possible - such as this one. 
“Whenever possible, existing structures should be preserved and/or renovated to accommodate changing land uses in 
order to protect both the neighborhood and overall community character.” 

Statesboro Comprehensive Plan, Community Agenda page 7. 

The Comprehensive Plan also lists mixed use as a preferred development strategy but also recognizes that the 
Developing Character area is primarily residential consisting largely of single family homes. The Comprehensive Plan 
also adopts the strategies of protecting existing residential neighborhoods and their character. The plan recognizes that 
commercial and residential can co-exist in residential areas if the design of the establishment is properly considered. 
Statesboro Comprehensive Plan, Community Agenda page 7. 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES (EXCEPT TRANSPORTATION): 

The subject site is currently served by city services including water, sewer, sanitation, and public safety. No significant 
impact is expected on city services as a result of this request. 

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property does contain wetlands and is located in a special flood hazard zone but neither should impact 
this request. Any potential issues will be brought forth and discussed during standard permitting and review 
procedures. 

ANALYSIS: 

The 6.98 acre site is currently zoned R20 (Single Family Residential) and contains a single family home with a small 
brick accessory building which is the focus of this request. The R20 (Single Family Residential) district has a stated 
purpose of establishing reasonable standards of performance and selection of uses permitted in order to maintain and 
protect the desirable benefits that single family residential uses have throughout the community. 
 
The Statesboro Zoning Ordinance allows for the operation of home occupations in the R20 (Single Family Residential) 
district by specifically listing the permissible uses. However, the ordinance also states that beauty salons and 
barbershops are not permitted or defined as a home occupation. Regardless, the applicant does not intend to live in the 
structure that the salon will be operated from; therefore, this use could not be considered as a home occupation 
otherwise. 
 
The applicant is requesting a Special Exception to permit the use of a hair salon in the existing accessory structure 
located in the R20 (Single Family Residential) district. Special Exceptions allow for a land use that are not permitted as 
right within a zoning district but which may be granted where the requested use may be deemed appropriate and 
compatible with the surrounding neighborhood. In this case, a hair salon is not a use permitted by right within the R20 
(Single Family Residential) zoning district; thus necessitating this request for approval of the proposed use by the 
Mayor and Council. 
 

 
 
Section 2406 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance lists seven (7) factors that should be considered by Mayor 
and City Council “in determining compatibility” of the requested use with adjacent properties and the overall 
community for considerations of Conditional Use Variances, or Special Exceptions as follows: 

A. Adequate provision is made by the applicant to reduce any adverse environmental impact of the 
proposed use to an acceptable level. 
• Staff is unaware of any environmental impacts this request would cause. 
• This building is becoming dilapidated; therefore, use of the vacant building will be an improvement to this 

site. 
B. Vehicular traffic and pedestrian movement on adjacent streets will not be substantially hindered or 

endangered. 
• The proposed use in this size structure is not expected to cause a significant impact on vehicular traffic. 

C. Off street parking and loading, and the entrances to and exits from such parking and loading, will be 
adequate in terms of location, amount, and design to serve the use. 



 

Page 3 of 14 
 
 

  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # SE 13-03-03 
Amended July 24, 2013 
 

• Although staff does not have the exact square footage of the structure that the proposed use will be located 
in, it is believed to be approximately 400 square feet in size. According to Article XVI of the Statesboro 
Zoning Ordinance, the applicant must have one (1) parking space for every 500 square feet of area 
accessible to patrons. This site has adequate room for the required parking and may utilize alternative 
surface material such as gravel, grass, dirt, etc. The site currently contains gravel. 

D. Public facilities and utilities are capable of adequately serving the proposed use. 
• The applicant intends to hire a licensed contractor to replace much of the interior of the building and install a 

handicap accessible bathroom and handrails. 
• Building Inspections by the Building Official and Fire Department have been conducted and the applicant is 

aware of the changes that may be required in the permitting stage. 
E. The proposed use will not have significant adverse effect on the level of property values or the general 

character of the area. 
• The proposed use is not expected to have an adverse effect on property values in the area given the uses of 

surrounding structures. 
F. Unless otherwise noted, the site plan submitted in support of an approved conditional use shall be 

considered part of the approval and must be followed. 
• No site plan was required to be submitted for this request. 

G. Approval of a proposed use by the mayor and council does not constitute and [an] approval for future 
expansion of or additions or changes to the initially approved operation. Any future phases or changes 
that are considered significant by the planning commission and not included in the original approval are 
subject to the provisions of this section and the review of new detailed plans and reports for said 
alterations by the governing authority. 
• This request, if approved, is personal to the applicant. Any future changes to this proposal must be approved 

by City Council. 
 
Additionally, § 2406 also requires consideration of the following factors given for standards for 
determination in a zoning change in “balancing the promotions of the public health, safety, morality [morals] 
and general welfare against the right of unrestricted use of property” given in § 2007 of the Statesboro 
Zoning Ordinance”: 

 
1. Existing uses and zoning or [of] property nearby. 

• Surrounding properties are zoned R20 (Single Family Residential), LI (Light Industrial), and R25 (Single 
Family Residential – Bulloch County) and uses range from single family residential to industrial 
warehousing, storage, and manufacturing. 

2. The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions. 
3. The extent to which the description of property values of the property owner promotes the health, safety, 

morals or general welfare of the public. 
4. The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the property owner. 

• This request gives the applicant an opportunity to serve members of the community and neighborhood while 
contributing to the mixed use feel with a neighborhood retail use as encouraged by the Comprehensive 
Plan. 

• Commercial retail uses in a residential area should consider compatibility with the character of the 
surrounding area. 

5. The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes. 
• This property should meet the zoning regulations set forth by the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance as 

necessary. 
6. The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of land 

development in the area in the vicinity of the property. 
• The principle structure on the lot is currently occupied as a single family home but the accessory structure in 

which the applicant wishes to locate has been vacant since being used as a small store decades ago.  
• Surrounding properties appear to be developed and occupied. 

7. The extent the proposed change would impact population density in the area, community facilities, living 
conditions in the area, traffic patterns and congestion, environmental aspects, existing and future land 
use patterns, and property values in adjacent areas. 
• The proposed use should not significantly impact any of the above. 

 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Based on the factors of consideration for Special Exceptions given in Section 2406 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance 
and the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan, staff would suggest that if the Special Exception is granted, that it be limited 
to the structure in question on the site, but not be applied to the entire acreage of the parcel. 

 



 

Page 4 of 14 
 
 

  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # SE 13-03-03 
Amended July 24, 2013 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 

At its April meeting, Planning Commission voted 4-0 to recommend approval of the Special Exception requested by this 
application with the following conditions: 

1. The Special Exception is limited to the structure being used rather than the entire parcel. 

2. Parking must be compliant with the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. 

3. Signage limited to that of the Home Occupation Regulations. 

4. One (1) stylist and one (1) customer at a time. 

5. Approval of a sketch showing the proposed renovations to the building. 

 

At its June meeting, Planning Commission voted 6-0 to recommend approval of the Special Exception requested by this 
application with the following conditions: 

1. The Special Exception is limited to the structure being used rather than the entire parcel. 

2. Parking must be compliant with the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. 

3. Signage limited to that of the Home Occupation Regulations. 

4. One (1) stylist and one (1) customer at a time. 

 

Note: The documents provided by the applicant are attached as “Exhibit C”. 

 

FLETCHER DRIVE NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION MEETING: 

The applicant and Councilman Boyum met with the Fletcher Drive Neighborhood Association on Tuesday, July 23, 
2013 to discuss this request. All parties agreed upon the following conditions: 

1. All parking at the front of the building (facing Fletcher Drive) must be parallel parking to prevent all vehicles 
from backing out onto Fletcher Drive. 

2. There must be exterior lighting facing Fletcher Drive. 

3. Signage limited to that of a Home Occupation. 

4. Limited to 2 salon chairs. 

5. Limited to 1 employee. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Page 5 of 14 
 
 

  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # SE 13-03-03 
Amended July 24, 2013 
 

EXHIBIT A: LOCATION MAP 

 
 

 



 

Page 6 of 14 
 
 

  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # SE 13-03-03 
Amended July 24, 2013 
 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY. 

 
Figure 1: Subject Site from Fletcher Drive. 
 

 
Figure 2: Side of the Subject Site. 
 
 



 

Page 7 of 14 
 
 

  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # SE 13-03-03 
Amended July 24, 2013 
 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY (CONT.). 
	  

 
Figure 3: Rear of the subject site. 
 

 
Figure 4: Photo showing available parking on subject site. 
 
 



 

Page 8 of 14 
 
 

  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # SE 13-03-03 
Amended July 24, 2013 
 

 
EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY (CONT.). 

 

 
Figure 5: Storage facility across Fletcher Drive from Subject Site. 
 

 
Figure 6: Adjacent properties to the northwest of the Subject Site. 
 
 
 



 

Page 9 of 14 
 
 

  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # SE 13-03-03 
Amended July 24, 2013 
 

 
EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY (CONT.). 

 

 
Figure 7: Manufacturing facilities to the east of the Subject Site. 
 

 
Figure 8: Subject property that structure is located on. 
 



 

Page 10 of 14 
 
 

  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # SE 13-03-03 
Amended July 24, 2013 
 

 
EXHIBIT C: DOCUMENTS PROVIDED BY APPLICANT 
 

 
 
 



 

Page 11 of 14 
 
 

  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # SE 13-03-03 
Amended July 24, 2013 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 



 

Page 12 of 14 
 
 

  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # SE 13-03-03 
Amended July 24, 2013 
 



 

Page 13 of 14 
 
 

  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # SE 13-03-03 
Amended July 24, 2013 
 



 

Page 14 of 14 
 
 

  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # SE 13-03-03 
Amended July 24, 2013 
 

 

















































































GE
NT

ILLY
 RD

  

FAIR RD  

BRANNEN ST  

HERTY DR  

N EDGEWOOD DR  

WENDWOOD DR  

MARVIN AVE  

ROGERS RD  

PITT MOORE RD  

LOVETT RD  

GREENWOOD AVE  HOLLY DR  

DORMAN DR  

GR
AN

AD
E S

T  

WE
LLS

 ST
  

CHANDLER RD  

PA
RK

 AV
E  

S EDGEWOOD DR  

TERRELL ST  

FAC
UL

TY 
BLV

D  

E JONES AVE  

JOHN PAUL AVE  

DO
NE

HO
O S

T  

PR
INC

E W
AY 

 

CATHERINE AVE  

STILLWELL ST  

SIMMONS RD  

OUTLAND ST  

GENTILLY DR  

RO
WA

ND
 CIR

  

CO
LLE

GE
 BL

VD
  

CLA
IRB

OR
NE

 AV
E  

HE
ND

ER
SO

N S
T  

FO
RE

ST 
WA

Y  

RO
WA

ND
 ST

  

GEORGIA AVE  

HO
LLI

S S
T  

BE
L  L

AN
E A

VE
  

GREENTREE CT  

MIKE
-AN

N DR  LAUREL LN  

HE
ND

RIC
KS 

ST 
 

WENDWOOD CT  

GENTILLY PL  

S EDGEWOOD DR  

GENTILLY RD  

GE
NT

ILLY
 RD

  

FAIR RD  

HO
LLI

S S
T  

City of Statesboro
Engineering Department

³

Gentilly Rd Sidewalk Installation
August 6, 2013

LEGEND
Path of Sidewalk

Roads
US-HWY
GA-HWY
CITY
GSU
COUNTY
PRIVATE

0 0.1 0.20.05
Miles

Project Terminus

Project Terminus







 

Purchasing 

 

Memo 
 
 
TO:  Frank Parker, City Manager 
  
FROM: Darren Prather, Purchasing Director 
 
DATE: 7-30-2013 
 
Re:   Fire Station 1— Phase I Construction Bid 
 
The City of Statesboro issued an invitation to bid on phase I of construction for fire station one. The main focus of 
phase I is the addition of four (4) additional bays for apparatuses and equipment. This is to include the structure and all 
required utility connections as well as an upgrade to the aesthetic feature of the complete facility as to tie in all sections 
of the station. If funds are available for phase II, the existing three (3) bays will be converted into living quarters and 
phase III will convert the existing living/administrative area into needed administrative offices. It is planned to use 
significant in-house resources on phases II and III in order to cut costs.  Twelve (12) contractors attended the 
mandatory pre-bid meeting and we received sealed bids from five (5) or these contractors. The bids received are as 
follows: (bid responses were submitted as a base bid with two optional alternative deducts in which the City of 
Statesboro reserved the right to select any option that was in the best interest of the City) 
 

Vendor   Base Bid  Alt. 1   Alt. 2 
 

1. CMerrill Const.  $464,900.00  $448,400.00  $458,400.00 
2. Kerns Const.  $736,000.00  $727,500.00  $729,500.00 
3. Paul Akins Const.  $564,000.00  $544,000.00  $558,000.00 
4. Pearce Building Syst. $459,829.00  $450,229.00  $452,375.00 
5. Tippins-Polk Const. $599,400.00  $580,400.00  $590,800.00 

 
Note: The base bids above are followed by two (2) deductive alternates. The deductive alternate totals 
represent the base bid amount with the deductive alternate amount subtracted thereby producing the alternate 
bid totals.  

 
The deductive alternates were included in the bid package in case the submitted base bids ran over the budget estimate 
of $600,000. Since the results are considerably lower than projected, we recommend the construction contract be 
awarded to Pearce Building Systems who offered the lowest responsive base bid in the amount of $459,829.00. The 3% 
local preference does not apply to this bid as it is a public works project with a cost of over $100,000.00. 
Representatives from the Fire Department and Martin & Rule Architects will be at the Council meeting to field any 
questions that may arise. 
 


	08-06-2013 Council Agenda
	07-16-2013council minutess
	2013-26 RESOLUTION UNCOLLECTABLE PERSONAL PROPERTY 2010 (5)
	2013-2012 PERSONAL PROPERTY TAXES TO BE WRITTEN OFF
	2013-Spells Taxi driver
	2013-alcohol license
	2013- Landfill Trailer Surplus Request for August 6 2013 Agenda
	2013-RZ 13-04-02,03,04_104 &amp; 300 Catherine Avenue, &amp; Herty Dr_Staff Report_AMENDED 2
	2013-SE 13-03-03_Staff Report_AMENDED_2
	2013-Retail Strategies
	2013 - Preferred SIte Recommendation of Low Bidder
	2013- preferred site Project Location Map
	2013- Dell server purchase price
	2013-Fire Station Phase I Rec

